MS 87/3

262

Water Resources Center Archives

APPENDIX 2

FRESHWATER INFLOW TO SAN FRANCISCO BAY UNDER NATURAL CONDITIONS

Phyllis Fox

SWC EXHIBIT NUMBER 262

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS ii
THE NATURAL LANDSCAPE
Riverlands and Riparian Forests 4
Natural Flood Basins and Tule Marsh9
The Delta15
Plains and Prairie16
Groundwater17
FRESHWATER INFLOW TO THE BAY 19
Rim Inflows
Land Areas25
Flood Basins
Tule Marsh
Riparian Forest
Precipitation on the Valley Floor
Water Use by Native Vegetation
Riparian Forest 29
Tule Marsh 31
Prairie
Native Vegetation Water Supply
Tulare Lake Basin Overflow
Natural Geography and Hydrology
Historic Accounts 39
Tulare Lake Basin Water Balance 41
RECOMMENDATIONS 43
BIBLIOGRAPHY 45

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The ideas in this report are the product of many minds. I am grateful for the lively discussions, assistance, and information that I have received from the following: Jerry Cox, Ed Huntley, Maury Roose, Price Schriener, Jerry Vayder, and Bob Zettlemoyer of the California Department of Water Resources; B.J. Miller, Water Consultant; and Alex Horne of the University of California at Berkeley, who beat me to the idea. I am also grateful for the assistance I have received from numerous individuals at the Water Resources Archives and Bancroft Library of the University of California, Berkeley and Sacramento State Library. Some of the planimetering and historical research were ably performed by Alison Britton. However, I alone am responsible for errors and omissions. This work would never have been conceived and implemented were it not for Dick Clemmer's early recognition of its importance and his vital support and persistence in paving the way for a new concept.

FRESHWATER INFLOW TO SAN FRANCISCO BAY UNDER NATURAL CONDITIONS

Freshwater inflow to San Francisco Bay from the Delta is presently about the same as it was under natural conditions. Drainage, reclamation, flood control, and water development in the Central Valley have not significantly affected the quantity of freshwater reaching San Francisco Bay. Early development in the Valley increased outflows while subsequent development reduced them to about their initial level. Evaporative water losses from the original marshes and riparian forests in the Central Valley exceeded present in-basin use and exports by about 10 percent. The monthly distribution of flow into San Francisco Bay was much more uniform under natural conditions than it is presently, and winter and spring pulse flows that are common today were probably rare under natural conditions.

The results of our analyses are summarized in Figure 1, which shows changes in Delta outflow as the Valley develops. We have also plotted along the bottom of this chart the historic events that were responsible for the changes. Early development in the Valley increased Delta outflow from 13 million ac-ft/yr around 1770 to about 28 million ac-ft/yr between 1850 and 1900. The increase occurred primarily because high water-using vegetation (tule marsh, riparian forest) was replaced by lower water-using crops and urban areas. This native vegetation used over 17 million ac-ft/yr of water, more than is presently exported from and used within the Central Valley. The increase in water yield that occurred when native vegetation was removed was subsequently used primarily for agriculture and domestic water supply, returning freshwater inflow to about the amount that naturally reached San Francisco Bay.



FIGURE 1. Summary of Historic Changes in Delta Outflows.

Originally, the trough of the Central Valley functioned as a reservoir filling and draining every year. Tule marshes choked these natural reservoirs and riparian forests lined the stream channels along the Valley floor. This natural vegetation took advantage of the plentiful supply of water, using far more than the irrigated crops that replaced them.

When the Central Valley was developed, the natural flood basins were drained, the tule marshes and riparian forest were replaced by irrigated crops, and the upslope forests were harvested. The original languid, slow moving, quasi-lake-like environment in the Central Valley was transformed into the highly channelized system with very short hydraulic residence times and high velocities that we know today. The principal result of upstream development has been to replace Valley reservoirs with man-made upstream reservoir storage and evaporative water losses by natural vegetation with consumptive use by agricultural crops and humans.

In this report, we estimate freshwater inflow to San Francisco Bay from tributary drainages in the Central Valley. Natural flows are defined here as those that occurred in a virgin, undisturbed state, prior to any significant human intervention. We use as our starting point the unimpaired flows calculated by the California Department of Water Resources [DWR 1987]. These estimates did not include the high evaporative water losses from natural vegetation, and they assumed present channel configurations.

THE NATURAL LANDSCAPE

The physical geography and vegetation in upstream drainages to San Francisco Bay (Sacramento Basin, the Delta region, and the San Joaquin Basin) were massively altered during early settlement and development of the Valley. This section describes the natural hydrology and primitive vegetation of the Valley and outlines its transformation into the system we know today. We have organized our

discussion around the principal geomorphic features of the Valley as delineated by Bryan (1923, p. 9) — riverlands, flood basins, Delta islands, and plains. These features are shown in a schematic cross section of the Valley in Figure 2. Moving from the main rivers (Sacramento, San Joaquin) outwards are found the riverlands, flood basins, and plains.

In the following sections, we focus our discussion on the Central Valley because we intend, in the analyses that follow, to estimate freshwater inflow to the Bay using a water balance around this area. This region also contributes about 99 percent of the freshwater to the Bay. The Central Valley comprises about 20,000 square miles and extends from near Red Bluff in the north to near Bakersfield in the south, a distance of about 400 miles. The average width of the Valley is about 50 miles. We emphasize the area north of Fresno and the San Joaquin River because over 99 percent of the water of interest originates in that area. We include the Tulare Lake Basin overflow as an inflow to the Central Valley.

Riverlands and Riparian Forests

The riverlands, the flood plains immediately adjacent to rivers and streams, and their riparian forests were one of the most prominent features of the Valley. They appeared as winding ribbons of green against a monotonously flat plain and were thus extensively described by early visitors [e.g., Farquhar 1932a]. In most parts of the Valley, the riverlands comprised banks of flood-borne sediments that were locally known as "rim lands" or "natural levees." These levees occurred along the Sacramento River from Red Bluff downstream and were most extensively developed in the river's middle reach from Ord Ferry to Sacramento. They were also present along the entire length of the San Joaquin River [Davis et al. 1959, p.27], though they were less well developed there because peak flows were typically less, thus limiting their ability to pick up and carry sediment for great distances [Katibah 1984]. Natural levees were also present in most Delta channels and along major



tributaries, including the Feather, Tuolumne, Stanislaus, Merced, Mokelumne, Fresno, and Cosumnes Rivers. They rose some 10 to 30 feet above the normal water level and extended several miles back from the river's edge [Bryan 1923; Davis et al. 1959].

These levees confined the main streams to their regular channels when water levels were at low to moderate stages. They also prevented overland runoff from the foothills and Valley floor from entering the main channels. When winter and spring runoff were high, however, the natural levees were overtopped by annual flood flows. The levees also were more or less discontinuous, and breaks were common along the main river, allowing flood flows to escape the main channels and fill the natural basins flanking the main-stem rivers [Bryan 1923].

The natural levees were formed by repeated overflows of sediment-laden river water onto adjacent lands and occur where the valley slope is lowest and the duration of overbank flow is highest. The coarse, sandy material deposited close to the channel (sandy loams) gradually built-up, forming broad slopes that fall gently away from the river. In the Sacramento Valley, these flood plains are occupied by soils of the Columbia series [Holmes et al. 1916] and in the San Joaquin Valley, by soils of the Hanford loam series [Nelson et al. 1918]. Because they are primarily coarse sediment, these levees are extremely porous and transmit water readily.

These riverlands supported riparian forest habitat, which included Fremont cottonwood, box elder, valley oak, and various species of willow. Many shrubs, including buttonbush, honeysuckle, wild rose, and berry were also common [Bakker 1971; Jepson 1893; Thompson 1961; Roberts et al. 1977; Hoover 1935; Conard et al. 1977; Warner 1984]. Thompson (1961) has chronicled the eye witness accounts of riparian forests in the Sacramento Valley, and Landrum (1938) has provided similar

information on the San Joaquin Valley. The areal extent of this vegetation has also been mapped [Kuchler 1977; Roberts et al. 1977] and is shown on Figure 3.

These riverlands were more extensively altered by man than any other natural landscape in California [Bakker 1971], and they were one of the first major losses in the natural environment [Katibah 1984; Scott and Marquiss 1984]. Limited use of these forests probably occurred during the first settlement of the Valley around 1820 and slowly increased until the Gold Rush in 1849, when such use greatly accelerated [Katibah 1984]. Estimates based upon historic accounts indicate that 775,000 to 800,000 acres of riparian forest were present in the Sacramento Valley [Smith 1977; Roberts et al. 1977; Michny 1980] around 1850. By 1972, only 12,000 acres remained [Roberts et al. 1977].

Since the riparian forests were the only significant woody vegetation on the Valley floor, they were used by early settlers for fencing, lumber, and fuel [Thompson 1961]. Steamships transporting miners and supplies upriver were heavy users of local wood fuel. In the decades following the Gold Rush, many settlers turned to farming. This agricultural development began on the natural levees because they were higher and less subject to flooding [Scott and Marquiss 1984]. Most of these lands were converted to orchards and annual row crops [McGill 1975]. Additional losses of riparian forests were caused by streambank stabilization, channelization, gravel and gold mining, and grazing [Roberts et al. 1977; Warner 1984].

The removal of riparian vegetation from the riverlands significantly altered the hydrology of the Central Valley. It is well known that forests and brush reduce stream flow and decrease maximum daily discharge and normal flood peaks [e.g., Hoyt and Troxell 1932; Love 1955; Lewis 1968; Robinson 1952; Hibbert 1971; Turner and Skibitzke 1951]. Riparian vegetation is deep rooted and uses large quantities of water [Robinson 1958; Young and Blaney 1942]. The vegetative canopy

and understory also intercept precipitation, storing it for subsequent use and evaporation, thereby altering the seasonal distribution of runoff [Lewis 1968].

Natural Flood Basins and Tule Marsh

The flood basins are shallow troughs that lie between the low plains and the natural levees along both sides of the Sacramento River and San Joaquin Rivers (Figure 2). They stretched from below Red Bluff on the Sacramento south to Bakersfield in the Tulare Lake Basin, and in wet years the entire Valley was a veritable inland sea. The early history of the Valley is rife with descriptions of the floods, starting with the great flood of 1805, which allegedly covered the entire Valley except the Sutter Buttes. The flood history of the Valley has been reviewed by several writers [Thompson 1960; Simpson and Meyer 1951; Gilbert 1879; Small 1929; Grunsky 1929].

The boundaries of these ancient flood plains (or overflowed lands, as they have often been called), are shown on Figure 3. These shallow flood basins were locally known as "tules" because of the heavy growth of tules (Spanish for reed), or rushes, which they supported [Bryan 1923, p. 39]. They were the lowest and flattest parts of the valley, they had no direct surface outlets, and they gently sloped toward the center and toward the downstream end, slowly draining into the main river channels after the flood wave had passed.

In times of ordinary high water, they were filled by overland flow that poured across the low plains in broad sheets and was trapped in the flood basins by the higher natural levees along the rivers. The basins were also filled by rivers that discharged into them either through definite channels or directly over natural levees. Many of the tributaries were not connected directly with the main rivers. They drained into the flood basins through a welter of channels, losing themselves "in the intricate plexus of sloughs which meander through the tule-land bordering the main river"

[Ransome 1896]. The hydrology of each individual flood basin is described elsewhere [Hall 1880; Bryan 1923; DPW 1931a; DPW 1931c; Davis et al. 1959; Grunsky 1929].

The existence of these flood basins was documented by early explorers and settlers [e.g., Gilbert 1879; Thompson 1960]. Fages, the first Spanish explorer to describe the Valley, wrote in 1773 that "it is all a labyrinth of lakes and tulares, and the River San Francisco (original name of the Sacramento and San Joaquin Rivers), divided into several branches winding in the middle of the plains, now enters and flows out of the lakes until very near to the place where it empties into the estuary of the river" [Bolton 1931]. Lieutenant Charles Wilkes, U.S.N., one of the first Americans to report on the Valley, wrote following an expedition in August and September 1841 that "according to the testimony of the Indians, the whole country was annually innundated" [Wilkes 1850, p. 189].

State Engineer Wm. Ham. Hall, in the first scientific treatise on the hydrology of the Valley, wrote that "in the natural state of the stream the waters of the Sacramento River, at time of ordinary flood, just overtopped the banks" Hall went on to define "ordinary flood" as that which "passes through the channel and over the low lands once, and perhaps twice, each winter or spring, except in seasons of drought, occurring once or twice every ten years" [Hall 1880, pps. 10-11].

Some of the flood waters that were captured in these basins seeped into the alluvial aquifers and natural levees , some drained directly back into the main channels, some was evapotranspired by the natural vegetation in the basins, and the balance was evaporated from the large surface area, many times that of present-day reservoirs. The precise distribution of these floodwaters is unknown. One estimate of drainange back into the stream channel was presented by DPW (1931b). Since portions of these natural flood basins contained standing water and waterlogged soils year-round (e.g., Grunsky 1929, p. 796; Bryan 1923), they were home to extensive areas of freshwater marshes. The estimated extent of the tule marshes is shown in Figure 3. As shown by this map, these marshes are sandwiched between the prairie and the riparian forest, and their outer limit approximately follows the natural flood basin boundaries throughout their range. Since these two boundaries were determined from different data sets and physical concepts [see DPW 1931a, 1931c; Kuchler 1964], it is striking how closely they match and is confirming evidence that both are reasonable estimates of natural conditions.

These marshes are probably the most neglected habitat type in California and have received scant botanical attention. Studies by botanists began with W.L. Jepson (1893, 1975). They have subsequently only been studied by Hoover (1935), Mason (1957), and more recently by the USGS [Atwater 1980; Atwater and Belknap 1980; Atwater et al. 1979]. The characteristic vegetation in these marshes included sedges, cattails, rushes, reeds, and other types of aquatic herbaceous vegetation [Mason 1957; Bakker 1971]. The common tule (*Scirpus acutus*), the cattail (*Typha latifolia*), and a variety of other Scirpus species were the most common plants [Hoover 1935; Atwater 1980].

The existence of these marshes is amply documented in writings of early explorers of the Central Valley, who described difficulties in getting their pack animals across the Central Valley due to the extensive marshlands (e.g., Farquhar 1932a, p. 118-119). The marshes are also shown on the maps prepared by the early explorers [reviewed by Landrum 1938] and on early maps prepared by the U.S. Department of Agriculture [Holmes et al. 1916] and the U.S. Geological Survey [Bryan 1923, Plate IV]. The evidence suggests that tule marshes were present year round, even during droughts. We reviewed diaries and correspondence from these early explorations and compiled (Table 1) eye witness descriptions of the tule marshes. We subsequently determined the year type (dry, normal, wet) from precipitation records [Anon. 1886; Graumlich 1987]. These analyses indicate that tule marshes were present throughout the Valley under all types of hydrologic conditions, including drought. Present day accounts also suggest that these marshes did not dry up. Bryan (1923), describing conditions observed during the dry period of 1912-13, wrote that, "In spite of the so-called Tule Canal, which traverses Yolo Basin ..., the basin contains some water even in the dry season..." (ibid., p.43).

The water supply for most of the freshwater marshes is believed to have been springs, groundwater, sloughs, and overflow from the main channels through breaks in the natural levies. Springs were common in the Valley under natural conditions. Assistant State Engineer Grunsky [Grunsky 1929 p. 793] reported that there were many places with "a large outflow in springs. These springs have a fairly constant flow throughout the year" In the Sacramento Valley, groundwater was within 1 foot of the surface in much of the area supporting marsh habitat. Elsewhere, where the marshes were underlain by clayey soils, they were probably supplied by sloughs that communicated with surface streams and/or groundwater. In the Delta, marshes had a constant, year-round water supply from groundwater discharge and drainage from upslope flood basins. Some riparian species in the Delta and lower Sacramento River have even been reported to grow much larger than elsewhere due to their abundant water supply [Jepson 1893], and remnant wetlands of the Delta today produce extraordinary amounts of organic matter [Atwater and Belknap 1980].

After the riparian forest, the natural flood basins (or tule lands), were developed next. These lands had been regarded as wastelands by early settlers, who avoided

TABLE 1

.

EYE WITNESS ACCOUNTS OF TULE MARSH IN THE CENTRAL VALLEY

Observer/Date	Year Type ^a	Reference
Sacramento Valley		
April 1817		
Arguello	Dry	Cook (1960), p.276
March 1833		
John Work	Wet	Maloney (1945), p.35
September/October 1849		
Lt. Derby	Normal	Farquhar (1932a), p.252
Delta Area		•
April 1772		
Fages	Normal	Treutlein (1972), p.335
August 1775	-	
Canizares	Dry	Eldredge (1909), p.65-69
April 1776	D	D 1/ (1000) 000
Father Font	Dry	Bolton (1933), p. 388
October 1811	Dalam Marra al	$C_{cc} = (1000) = 901$
Abella	Below Normal	Cook (1960), p.201
August 1837 Valleie	Above Normal	Cook (1969) p 190
$\frac{194C}{47(2)}$	Above Norman	Cook (1902), p.190
September 1040/47(?)	Above Normal	Bruent(1967) = 300-301
Son Joaquin Valloy	Above Normai	Diyant (1001),p.000-001
Santombor 1906		
Moraga	Below Normal	Cutter (1950) n 101 125
Sentember 1808		
Moraga	Below Normal	Ibid., p.124-125
August/October 1810		Toid p 157-158
Moraga/Father Viader	Below Normal	Cook (1962) = 260
May 1817	Delow Horman	Cook (1002), p.200
Father Duran	Drv	Chapman (1911), p.35
September 1846/47(?)		
Bryant	Above Normal	Bryant (1967) n 302
July 1853	Theore Horman	Williamson (1855)
Lt. Williamson	Wet	p.10, 191-192
Tulare Lake Basin		P,
October 1814		
Father Cabot	Drv	Cutter (1950), p.205
September-November 1815		
Various observers	Dry	Cutter (1950), p.208-226
1849/1850	~	
J.W. Audubon	Normal/Wet	Audubon (1906), p.184
April/May 1850		
Lt. Derby	Wet	Farquhar (1932b), p.252

^a For the period prior to 1850, Graumlich's (1987) data for the Southern Valleys is used, which included the Sacramento Valley. For the period 1850 to 1887, precipitation records at Sacramento (Anon. 1886) are used.

them due to the difficulties they presented — for not only was the terrain nearly impossible to cross, but recurrent outbreaks of "swamp fever" (or ague) claimed Indians and settlers alike. Thus, interest in reclaiming the swamps did not develop until after the 1850 Arkansas Act, in which the Federal government transferred ownership of all "swamp and overflowed lands" to the State on the condition that they be drained. California followed with a series of Acts and statutes, culminating in the 1868 Green Act, which created regular reclamation districts [Adams 1904].

Reclamation, even with the force of these Acts, was still painfully slow because it was technically difficult and costly, about \$5.00/acre [Tide Land Reclamation Co. 1869]. No coherent reclamation program ever developed, and the disorganized and senseless manner in which it was carried out was the scandal of the era [Manson 1888; Adams 1904]. Sherman Island in the Delta was one of the first successful reclamation projects [Tide Land Reclamation Co. 1869], and by 1884, 1,270 miles of levees had been built on the Sacramento and its tributaries and on the San Joaquin below the mouth of the Stanislaus [Grunsky cited in Manson 1884]. By 1910, 300,000 acres of land in the Valley were reclaimed and by 1918, this figure has risen to 700,000 acres [Karl 1979]. By 1920 to 1930, most of the Delta marshes were leveed and reclaimed for farming [Atwater et al. 1979; Thompson 1957, pp. 208-238].

This river levee program, however, was mostly unsuccessful in containing the flood waters [Manson 1884; Scott and Marquiss 1984]. The first plan for flood control in the Sacramento Valley was developed in 1880 [Hall 1880], but implementation was slow due to its great cost, complexity, and political controversy. With the federal government's involvement, the Sacramento Flood Control Project, the first in the U.S., was completed between 1928 and 1944. This massive project included 980 miles of levees; 7 weirs or control structures; 3 drainage pumping plants; 438 miles of channels and canals; 7 bypasses, 95 miles in length and encompassing an area of 101,000 acres; 5 low-water check dams; 31 bridges; and 50 miles of collecting canals

and seepage ditches [Karl 1079]. This massive public works project was followed by flood control features of the Central Valley Project in 1944. Nevertheless, flooding remains a concern in the Valley, and extensive damage occurred during the 1986 floods.

Leveeing the rivers and draining and reclaiming the marshes redistributed and increased freshwater inflow to San Francisco Bay. The natural flood basins and their marshes had provided extensive surface and subsurface storage for flood waters. The basins and marshes absorbed flood energy and reduced water velocities, partially explaining the absence of currents noted by early explorers [e.g., Bolton 1933, p. 369]. After the marshes were reclaimed and river levees constructed, flood flows that formerly spilled over the much lower natural levees were routed directly through the river channels into the Bay. This increased flood peaks [Grunsky 1929, p. 793], creating the now-famous "pulses", or high winter-spring discharges from the Delta that stratify most of the Bay. The quantity of water reaching the Bay was also increased because vegetation, which used copious quantities of water, was removed.

The Delta

These flood basins included most of the Delta, which because of its unique features merits separate commentary. In its original condition, the Delta was a vast, flat water-soaked marsh, lying near sea level [Bryan 1923; Atwater et al. 1979; Dachnowski-Stokes 1936]. It was subject to periodic overflows at high stages of the rivers and was traversed by an ever-changing network of channels and sloughs that divided the marsh into islands.

As noted by Bryan (1923, p.44), "Under natural conditions these islands were covered with water throughout a large part of the year and were always flooded at high river stages. The tide raised and lowered the level of the water over large areas..." Most of these channels had natural levees that sloped away from the channels towards the centers of the islands. Each island had a saucer-shaped surface and under natural conditions was swampy in the interior [Bryan 1923, p.10].

"Peat" and "muck" form the majority of the soils in the Delta and upstream areas, as mapped and defined by the U.S. Department of Agriculture [Nelson et al. 1918; Holmes et al. 1916; Cosby 1941]. These soils were very important in the natural hydrology of the basin [Dachnowski-Stokes 1935] because they could store water for subsequent use by native vegetation. The types of peat found in the Delta can absorb seven times their weight in water and have an absorptive capacity of 2.6 to 3 acre-feet of water per acre-foot of peat [Dachnowski-Stokes 1935, p.175].

Plains and Prairie

The area stretching from the flood basins to the foothills, known locally as the plains (Figure 2), did not play as large a role in the natural hydrology as the riverlands and flood basins. These lands were sparsely vegetated with low water-using plants similar to present day vegetation. Thus, the role they played in the hydrology of the Valley is probably not very different today than under natural conditions.

The plains were smooth and nearly level lands that were formed as flood waters spread over them, leaving behind thin deposits of silt. The vegetation in the plains was prairie, as defined by Kuchler (1977) (Figure 3). The dominant species was bunchgrass (*Stipa pulchra*) [Barbour and Major 1977, p.495]. Numerous annuals and perennial grasses were associated with *Stipa* species, as listed in Barbour and Major, as well as plants with bulbs and annuals in the Compositae, Cruciferae, and other families. Hoover (1935), describing the San Joaquin Valley, noted that "one of the most striking features of the flora of the open plains of the valley in the primitive condition was the scarcity of grasses over large areas." Fremont, in his Memoirs, described the plains as "unbroken fields of yellow and orange colored flowers, varieties of *Layia* and *Escholtzia California...*" [Fremont 1964, p.18]. Some areas in

the plains, primarily north of the Delta, contained alkaline patches that supported saltbush (Figure 3).

The vegetation of the plains was swiftly altered, partly by accident, partly to accommodate grazing. Today, the herbaceous cover of the plains is dominated by annual plants, many of them introduced. In parts of the San Joaquin Valley, for instance, it has been found that more than half of the herbaceous cover is comprised of alien species, mainly from the Old World [Burcham 1957].

Groundwater

The occurrence and depth to groundwater are important considerations in evaluating the natural hydrology of the Central Valley The tule marshes would have required vast areas of water-logged soils and standing water for most of the year, and the riparian forest would have required groundwater within reach of their root systems. Our examination of the available data indicates that the riparian forest's water supply was stream flow, bank storage in the natural levees, and groundwaters. The marshes, on the other hand, were located in areas where the groundwater table was at the surface, in areas underlain by clayey soils that were supplied by sloughs, or in areas that were tidally inundated year round (the Delta). Our calculations indicate that enough water to supply the marshes was stored annually in surface soil horizons. Additional water was supplied from streams via sloughs.

Studies on groundwater hydrology of the Central Valley were reviewed recently [Page 1986]. The earliest studies were conducted by the U.S. Geological Survey between 1905 and 1913 [Bryan 1923; Mendenhall et al. 1916]. We focus on these early studies, since significant pumping for irrigation was present during later work [e.g., Olmsted and Davis 1961; Davis et al. 1959].

Under natural conditions in the Valley, groundwater aquifers were filled by precipitation falling on the foothills and plains and by flood waters that filled the natural flood basins flanking the main channels. Originally, "there (was) no adequate outlet for ground waters of the Great Valley..." [Mendenhall et al. 1916, p.28] so they escaped by "capillarity" and evaporation along the valley axis [Mendenhall et al. 1916; Bryan 1923, p.85; Hilgard 1892]. This water slowly moved downslope toward the main channels, stagnating in the valley trough. It discharged "into seeps and sloughs in the basin lands where the water evaporated; by evaporation from moist lands where the groundwater stands less than about 8 feet from the surface; and by transpiration where the groundwater is within reach of the root of plants" [Bryan 1923, p.85], forming alkali deposits.

The areas that supported marshes in the Valley were and are bordered by patches of alkaline soils in most areas. These patches delineate the areas within which groundwaters used to emerge at the surface where the marshes were located. The origin, composition, and location of these salt deposits are presented elsewhere [Hilgard 1892; Kuchler 1977; Holmes et al. 1916; Nelson et al. 1918; Bryan 1923, p.85]. These areas supported saltbush, and the largest concentration of such regions was located in the San Joaquin and Tulare Lake basins (Figure 3). These deposits are greater in extent in the San Joaquin valley because the higher precipitation to the north continuously washed the deposits away in most areas [Bryan 1923, p.86].

Bryan (1923), in his classic work on groundwater conditions in the Sacramento Valley, reported that it was "remarkable for the large area in which the water table stands close to the surface. During the summers of 1912 and 1913 — two dry years — the depth to water in more than 80 per cent of the valley was less than 25 feet. " (ibid. p.82). In describing the location of groundwater in the flood basins, Bryan (1923) goes on to report that in dry years, over large parts of the American, Sutter, and Yolo flood basins and adjacent riverlands, that the depth to water "ranges from a maximum of 20 feet along the river bank [where the riparian forest was] to only a few inches in parts of the basins [where the marshes were]. In the basins, the maximum depth is 6 feet in the very driest years." (ibid, p. 83).

FRESHWATER INFLOW TO THE BAY

We have calculated the freshwater inflow to San Francisco Bay from a water balance around the portion of the Central Valley that drains into the Bay. The geographic boundary and areas used in our analysis are shown on Figure 4. The portion of the Central Valley that drains into the Bay is Area 2, which comprises the Sacramento Valley (Area 2a), the Delta and upslope areas (Area 2b), and the San Joaquin Valley (Area 2c). These boundaries are the same as used by the DWR in their unimpaired flow studies [DWR 1987].

The water balance we performed around the Central Valley can be expressed as follows:

Delta Outflow = Water Supply – Water Use by Native Vegetation

The total water supply is equal to the sum of unimpaired rim inflows, Tulare Lake Basin overflow, and precipitation on the valley floor. We have not included evaporative losses from flooded areas because most of these areas supported native vegetation. Evaporative water losses from flooded areas with no vegetation are probably small. We have also assumed that over the long term, the net change in basin storage (groundwater, bank storage, natural flood basins, marshes) is zero. Any water that was stored during one season would subsequently be used by native



FIGURE 4. Hydrologic Units Used in Calculating Freshwater Inflow to San Francisco Bay Under Natural Conditions.

vegetation or would be released at a later time as channel flow. Our calculations are for long-term, average annual conditions.

The results of our water balance are presented in Table 2. Each element of the water balance (first column) is described and discussed in subsequent sections. This table shows the quantity of water from each source (rim inflow, Tulare Lake Basin inflow, valley floor precipitation) and the amount used by each principal type of vegetation in the Valley. We have used a range for vegetative water use because the consumptive use would have varied in different parts of the Valley.

This table shows that under natural conditions, an average of 38.8 million acre feet of water were available each year. From 51 to 80 percent of this supply was consumptively used by native vegetation and the balance entered San Francisco Bay. Slightly more than one-third of the water was evapotranspired by the riparian forests that lined all of the major streams. The balance was used by tule marshes in the natural flood basins and by prairie vegetation, in the expansive plains. The remaining 7.8 to 18.9 million acre feet annually flowed through the Delta into San Francisco Bay.

Our estimates of net water use and Delta outflow under natural conditions are compared with equivalent quantities for the "unimpaired" case and the 1990 level of development on Figure 5. Our estimates of natural net water use on this figure are the mid-points of the ranges presented in Table 2. "Unimpaired" flows are those calculated by the DWR in Exhibit 26 [DWR 1987]. These flows assume present channel configurations, no diversions, or exports, and no tule marsh or riparian forest water use. They assume that the natural flood basins and their marshes have been drained, that levees and channel bypasses are in place, and that the Valley water supply and runoff have the same characteristics as foothill areas. Although these unimpaired flows certainly never existed, their magnitude may have been

TABLE 2

t

FRESHWATER INFLOW TO SAN FRANCISCO BAY CALCULATED FROM A WATER BALANCE AROUND THE CENTRAL VALLEY

Element in Water Balance		Long-term Average Annual Water (millions of ac-ft/yr)
Water Supply		
Unimpaired Rim Inflow		28.2
Tulare Lake Basin Inflow		0.2
Precipitation on Valley Floor		10.5
	Total	38.8
Water Use by Native Vegetation		
Riparian Forest		8.6 - 11.5
Tule Marsh		5.7 - 8.5
Prairie		5.6 - 11.0
	Total	19.9 - 31.0
Freshwater Inflow to San Francisco Bay under Natural Conditions		7.8 - 18.9



,

FIGURE 5. Comparison of Unimpaired, Natural, and 1990-Level-of-Development Net Water Use and Delta Outflow.

approached sometime between 1850 and 1900 (Figure 1). Considerable additional work is required to determine what the maximum outflow may have been and when it would have occurred.

Figure 5 indicates that evaporative water losses from the original marshes and riparian forests (17.1 million ac-ft/yr) were about 10 percent greater than present inbasin use and exports (15.6 million ac-ft/yr). This means that more water was used under natural conditions in the Central Valley than is used in this area today. During the first half century of California's statehood, the water supply and river flows were increased by removing the riparian forests, draining the swamps, and channelizing the streams. During the second half century, this increased supply was developed for agricultural and domestic use (Figure 1).

Figure 5 also shows that Delta outflow today is very close to what we estimate it was under natural conditions. Our calculations indicate that Delta outflow was 7.8 to 18.9 million ac-ft/yr under natural conditions, while the DWR has estimated that Delta outflow for the 1990 level of development will be 13 million ac-ft/yr [DWR Exhibit No. 30, D1485 Delta Standards], well within our range.

The following sections present the data and assumptions used to calculate the water balance discussed above.

Rim Inflows

Rim inflows are the total quantity of water from Area 1 (Figure 4) under natural conditions. They were calculated from DWR's unimpaired flow data [DWR 1987] by subtracting valley floor contributions [DWR Areas 1,12,24,17,23] from total Delta inflow (ibid., p. 35).

Land Areas

Land areas were used in a number of calculations in this work. All of the relevant areas used in our calculations are summarized in Table 3. Areas are also outlined on the map shown in Figure 3.

Flood Basins

The flood basin areas were used to calculate active groundwater storage capacity and as a rough check on the accuracy of tule marsh acreages. These areas were determined by planimetering from maps reported in DPW Bulletin 26 and 29 [DPW 1931a, 1931c] that were prepared from surveys and maps by State Engineer Wm. Ham. Hall (1880). Our estimates indicate that about 3.1 million acres of land were subject to annual innundation and that about 2.2 million acres of this was tributary to the Bay. However, even larger areas, extending into the plains, were innundated in wet years [Hall 1880, p. 8]. Our flood basin areas include the channel areas and natural levee areas, which were usually higher than the flood water level. Channel surface areas are also summarized in Table 3 from the early literature.

Tule Marsh

We planimetered the tule marsh area from Kuchler's natural vegetation map (1977), correcting it for areas that others have reported as riparian forest [Thomas et al. 1977]. These estimates indicate that there were 1.6 million acres of tule marsh in the Central Valley, and about 1 million acres were tributary to the Bay. These estimates generally compare favorably with those cited in literature prior to 1900. For example, Manson, one of Ham. Hall's assistants, wrote in 1884 that swamp lands situated on the lower San Joaquin and Sacramento rivers and their tributaries, including the Delta, encompassed about 1 million acres [Manson 1884, p. 88].

TABLE 3

	Total Area (1,000 acres)						
Drainage Basin (Figure 4)	Flood Basin Area ^a	Channel Surface Area	Riparian Forest ^f	Tule Marsh ^g	Prairie ^h	Salt- Bush ^h	Total Valley Floor ⁱ
Sacramento Basin (2a)	1,256	$24^{ m b}$	938	295	2,256	0	3,489
Delta (2b)	588	37°	198	397	700	0	1,295
San Joaquin Basin (2c)	345	7^{d}	298	254	2,392	148	3,092
Tulare Basin (3)	936	3 ^e	515	643 ^j	4,027	1,298	6,503

LAND AREAS

^a Determined by planimetering the overflowed land area from Plate LXXIII [DPW 1931c] and Plate VII [DPW 1931a]. This area includes channel surface area and natural levees.

^b From Hall (1880), p. 7. May include some channels in northern Delta.

^c From DPW (1931b), p. 70, notes to table.

d Estimated by multiply channel area in Sacramento Basin by the ratio of the unimpaired flow from the San Joaquin Basin (6861 TAF) to that from the Sacramento Basin (24,800 TAF) for the period 1889-1929 [DPW 1931a, Table 5; DPW 1931c, Table 5).

e Estimated as in (d), but using unimpaired flow of Tulare Basin for 1889-1929 (3,510 TAF).

^f Planimetered from Kuchler (1977) and Roberts et al. (1977). Kuchler was used for forest along tributaries and for all areas south of the Merced River while Roberts was used for forest along the main channels (Sacramento, San Joaquin Rivers).

^g Planimetered from Kuchler (1977). Areas corrected for riparian forest along main channels as shown by Roberts et al. (1977).

h Planimetered from Kuchler (1977).

ⁱ Planimetered from Kuchler (1977). Corresponds to boundary defined by Blue Oak-Digger Pine forest and California Prairie (*Stipa* spp.). This area is the sum of riparian forest, tule marsh, prairie, and saltbush in all basins except Tulare. The Tulare Lake Basin has small quantities of other types of native vegetation that we did not consider here.

^j Under natural conditions, the Tulare Valley contained a series of lakes interconnected by sloughs. The marsh and lake area varied greatly, according to historical accounts. This area is assumed to about equal the sum of marsh plus lake under average conditions.

Riparian Forest

Our riparian forest area was determined by planimetering from Robert's (1977) and Kuchler's (1977) natural vegetation maps. We used Roberts for forest areas along the main river channels (Sacramento, San Joaquin Rivers), which Kuchler showed incorrectly as tule marsh. We used Kuchler for forest along tributary streams, which Roberts underestimated by restricting the habitat to Columbia and Hanford loam soils. Our estimates indicate that there were about 1.9 million acres of riparian forest in the Central Valley, and 1.4 million acres of this were tributary to the Bay. Our estimates compare favorably with early estimates [Smith 1977; Michny 1980] but are high compared to present-day estimates derived from soil profiles. Katibah (1984) estimated that there were 921,600 acres of riparian forests in the Central Valley, and Roberts et al. (1977) estimated that there were some 771,600 acres north of the Merced River. In both cases, the forests were mapped according to soil profiles and were restricted to loams.

Precipitation on the Valley Floor

Precipitation falling on the valley floor was calculated by multiplying the area of the valley floor (Table 3) by the area-weighted average annual precipitation in feet/year. The valley floor precipitation volume for each basin (2a,2b,2c) is presented in Table 4, and the precipitation is listed in footnote (b) to that table.

The valley floor areas that we used in our calculations were obtained by planimetering from Kuchler's (1977) Natural Vegetation Map the area defined by the boundary between blue oak-digger pine forest and prairie. The area-weighted precipitation values that we used for each area (Areas 2a,2b,2c) were obtained from Schreiner (1987). They were calculated by planimetering from the annual average isohyetal precipitation map for the Central Valley for the period 1911-1960 prepared by J.D. Goodrich. The total basin areas used in these calculations were those used

TABLE 4

Natural Vegetation Water Use (1,000 ac-ft/yr) ^a					
			Prairie		
Basin	Riparian Forest	Tule Marsh	Grasslands	Saltbush	Valley Floor Precipitation ^b (1,000 ac-ft/yr)
Sacramento Valley (2a)	5,628 – 7,504	1,770 – 2,655	2,256 - 4,512	0	5,902
Delta Valley (2b)	1,188 – 1,584	2,382 - 3,573	700 - 1,400	0	1,640
San Joaquin Valley (2c)	1,788 – 2,384	1,524 – 2,286	2,392 - 4,784	296	2,937
Totals	8,604 - 11,472	5,676 - 8,514	5,348 – 10,696	296	10,479

ELEMENTS OF WATER USE AND WATER SUPPLY BY BASIN

^a Water use was calculated by multiplying the total land area from Table 3 by the water use. The water use used in the calculations is as follows: riparian forest: 6 to 8 ac-ft/ac; tule marsh: 6 to 9 ac-ft/ac; grasslands: 1 ac-ft/ac; saltbush: 2 ac-ft/ac.

^b Precipitation was calculated by multiplying the total valley floor area from Table 3 by the area - weighted average precipitation for the period 1911-60 from J.D. Goodrich's (1966) isohyetal map for the Central Valley [Schreiner 1987]. The precipitation values are; Sacramento Valley - 20.3 in.; Delta area - 15.2 in.; San Joaquin Valley - 11.4 in.

by DWR in its consumptive use studies. These precipitation estimates include some foothill areas where precipitation is higher than on the valley floor. Therefore, our average precipitation values (Table 4) are slightly (<5 percent) larger than actual precipitation falling on the valley floor area. This would slightly overestimate natural Delta outflow.

Water Use by Native Vegetation

Water used by native vegetation was estimated by multiplying the area of each type of vegetation by a consumptive use value [Blaney 1954; Jensen 1973]. The areas that we used in these calculations were summarized in Table 3. The resulting water use for each type of vegetation by basin was summarized in Table 4.

This section discusses the consumptive use factors we used to estimate native vegetative water use. Normally, riparian forests and aquatic macrophytes transpire at the so-called potential rate due to the fact that their roots are continuously immersed in water. However, prairie grasses depend upon available soil moisture, and their actual evapotranspiration was probably less than the potential amount. Thus, we have selected potential evapotranspiration factors (ET) for wetland vegetation and actual (field) values for prairie vegetation.

Riparian Forest

The consumptive use of water by riparian vegetation has been determined in studies designed to save water by removing phreatophytes from along streams and canals in arid areas [e.g., Muckel 1966; Robinson 1952; Blaney 1956]. Most relevant studies have been reviewed and summarized elsewhere [Robinson 1958; Young and Blaney 1942]. Water use estimates for the principal types of vegetation occurring in Central Valley riparian forests are summarized in Table 5.

TABLE 5

١

Vegetation	Annual Water Use (ac-ft/ac)	Location	Reference
Field Studies			
Canyon-bottom	7.5 ^a	Coldwater Canyon, CA	Blaney (1933)
Moist-land vegetation	9.4 ^b	Temescal Canyon, CA	Blaney et al. (1930)
River-bottom brush	4.2	Prado, CA	White (1932)
Tank Studies			
Willows	4.4	Santa Ana, CA	Blaney et al. (1930)
Willows	2.9	Not reported	DPW (1931b)
Cottonwoods	$5.2-7.7^{\circ}$	San Luis Rey, CA	Blaney (1957, 1961)
Alders	5.0	Santa Ana, CA	Muckel (1966)
Cottonwoods	7.6 ^c	Safford Valley, AZ	Gatewood et al. (1950)

WATER USE BY COMMON RIPARIAN VEGETATION IN THE CENTRAL VALLEY

^a Reported for the 4-month period July-October 1932 and converted to a 12-month basis using the monthly distribution of water use reported for willows (DPW) 1931b).

^b Reported for the month of May 1929 and converted to a 12-month basis using the monthly distribution of water use for willows [DPW 1931b].

^c Range depends on depth to groundwater, which varied from 3 to 4 feet at San Luis Rey and was 7 feet at Safford Valley.

In our estimates of evaporative water losses from riparian forests, we used an evapotranspiration (ET) range of 6 to 8 ac-ft/ac. The lower limit was calculated by weighting the water use for willows (4.4 ac-ft/ac), cottonwoods (7.7 ac-ft/ac), and river-bottom brush (4.2 ac-ft/ac) by the relative densities reported by Conrad et al. (1977) for a riparian forest along the Sacramento River (cottonwood=0.44; willows=0.20; all other=0.36). These densities are generally consistent with abundances reported by others [e.g. Warner 1984]. Our upper limit of 8 ac-ft/ac is the average of field measurements made for canyon-bottom and moist-land vegetation (Table 5).

Tule Marsh

Investigations on the consumptive use of water by aquatic macrophytes have been conducted for nearly a century, yielding a variety of contradictory results. Initially, studies were conducted in isolated tanks, which yielded rates that were up to 300 percent higher than evaporation from a free water surface [Otis 1914]. Later, it was learned that it was important to surround the tanks with similar vegetation to simulate the environment in large swampy areas [Young and Blaney 1942, p.25]. This reduced evaporation due to the insulation from surrounding vegetation.

Several other factors are now recognized as affecting water use by marsh vegetation. Canopy surface geometry (i.e., the actual surface from which water evaporates) plays an important role in evaporation from marshes. Generally, small or narrow canopies such as occur along rivers, streams, canals, and sloughs can have evaporative water losses several times greater than those from comparable open water surfaces [Blaney 1961, p.39; Anderson and Idso 1987, p. 1041]. Evaporative losses from extensive vegetative canopies such as occur in large marshes are much lower, depending upon a number of other factors, including humidity, winds, length of growing season, depth of water, age of plants, and height of canopy. Evaporative water losses from tall canopies, which are characteristic of tule marsh areas (tules

and other marsh vegetation typically grow to 5 - 6 feet), are enhanced by atmospheric turbulence. A recent study reported that "evaporative water loss from a tall canopy such as cattails (*Typha latifolia*) may be as much as 40 percent greater than that from a comparable open water surface." (ibid, p. 1041). Reliable measurements of up to 90 percent greater than from a free water surface have been reported for tule marsh in California [Young and Blaney 1942; Young 1938].

We reviewed measurements of water use by tules and cattails in marsh environments similar to those of the Central Valley, and the relevant values are summarized in Table 6. Most of these values were measured in tanks (i.e., lysimeters) that were properly surrounded by native vegetation. We eliminated literature values with the following characteristics: (a) less than 12 months of data were reported; (b) abnormal growth or other anomalous conditions were described; (c) salt-water marsh (high salinity reduces evaporation).

From Table 6 and the additional considerations we summarize here, we have selected a range of 6 to 9 ac-ft/yr for tule marsh water use. The lower end of the range is probably representative of areas with lower evaporation rates (e.g., northern Sacramento Valley) and areas that lacked a full year-round water supply (i.e., probably only in Tulare Lake Basin). The upper end of the range applies to areas with a high evaporation rate (e.g., parts of Delta, San Joaquin Valley) and a full year-round supply of water (e.g., the Delta).

Our range of 6 to 9 ac-ft/ac was derived from the ratio between marsh evapotranspiration and pan evaporation first published by Young [Young 1938; Young and Blaney 1942; Anderson and Idso 1987]. The ratio of tule and cattail evapotranspiration to pan evaporation is about 1.4 and can be as high as 1.9. Since pan evaporation in the Central Valley ranges from about 5.0 to 6.5 ac-ft/ac [DWR 1979], the corresponding marsh evaporation would be 7 to 9 ac-ft/ac, which is well

TABLE 6

Æ.

Location	Type of Marsh	Annual Water Use (ac-ft/ac) ^d	Reference
King Island, Delta	freshwater tidal marsh	$7.4 - 13.0^{a}$	Stout (1929-35)
Victorville, CA (Mojave River)	desert inland marsh	6.5 – 7.0	Young and Blaney (1942)
Mesilla Valley, NM (Rio Grande River)	freshwater marsh	10.1	Young and Blaney (1942)
Bonner's Ferry, ID	inland marsh	5.1	Robinson (1952)
Antioch, Delta	freshwater (?) tidal marsh	5.8 ^b	Blaney and Muckel (1955)
Clarksburg, Delta	freshwater tidal marsh	9.6 ^c	DPW (1931b)

WATER USE BY TULES AND CATTAILS

^a Value for third year of growth. Range corresponds to two different tank configurations.

^b Calculated based on limited experiments at Joice Island in Suisun Marsh.

Experiments conducted in isolated tanks and values adjusted by multiplying by a factor of about 0.5.

^d All values measured in tank experiments in which tanks were set in natural environment unless otherwise stated.

within the range of reported evapotranspiration values (Table 6). We lowered the minimum to 6 ac-ft/ac because several of the reported values (Table 6) are around 6 ac-ft/ac.

We believe that this range is conservative and may understate the actual water use in natural Central Valley marshes. Many of the marshes in the Central Valley were supplied by sloughs, as discussed previously. The Delta, in particular, had some 37,000 acres of sloughs, and the extensive tule marsh south of the Merced River was a complex maze of sloughs. Water use by marsh vegetation growing along sloughs can be several times higher than by those growing deep within an expansive marsh [Blaney 1961, p.39; Anderson and Idso 1987, p.1041]. Actual measurements with tules and cattails suggest that water use in these fringe areas is about 20 ac-ft/ac [Young and Blaney 1942]. We have made no effort to estimate these edge effects, but they could be significant in marshes that are fed by sloughs.

Prairie

The majority of the land area in the Central Valley plains was formerly prairie (Table 3), and it initially supported a vigorous livestock industry [Burcham 1956]. Today, much of it is farmed. As discussed previously, this area was covered with a bunchgrass (*Stipa* spp.) community that included many forbs. The more alkaline soils in the Valley, located in area of groundwater discharge, supported saltbush [Kuchler 1977; Barbour and Major 1977].

We reviewed measurements of water use by vegetation similar to that occurring in the Central Valley prairie. Relevant values are summarized from the literature in Table 7. This table indicates that native prairie uses from 0.8 to 1.8 ac-ft/ac of water, or about 1.3 ac-ft/ac on the average. Saltgrass, which was common in the Valley [Barbour and Major 1977] can use larger quantities of water, up to 5 ac-ft/ac

TABLE 7

,

Vegetation	Annual Water Use	Location	Reference
Field Studies			
Native brush	1.4 - 1.8	San Bernadino, CA	Young and Blaney (1942)
Native brush	1.5	Muscoy,CA	Young and Blaney (1942)
Native brush	1.2	Claremont, CA	Young and Blaney (1942)
Native brush	1.6	Palmer Canyon, CA	Young and Blaney (1942)
Native grass and weeds	0.8	San Bernadino, CA	Young and Blaney (1942)
Native grass and weeds	1.2	Cucamonga, CA	Young and Blaney (1942)
Native grass and weeds	1.0	Anaheim, CA	Young and Blaney (1942)
Native grass and weeds	1.1	Ontario, CA	Young and Blaney (1942)
Native grass and weeds	1.1	Wineville, CA	Young and Blaney (1942)
Saltgrass	2.1	Owens Valley, CA	Lee (1912)
Annual grasses, forbes, and legumes	1.2	Placer County, CA	Lewis (1968)
Tank Studies	3		
Saltgrass	1.1 – 3.6	Santa Ana, CA	Young and Blaney (1941)
Saltgrass	1.1 – 4.1	Owens Valley, CA	Young and Blaney (1942)
Saltgrass	2.6	Isleta, NM	Young and Blaney (1942)
Saltgrass	0.8 - 4.0	Los Griegos, NM	Young and Blaney (1942)
Annual grasses	0.8 – 1.2	Placer County, CA	Lewis (1968)
Grass	1.2	San Luis Rey, CA	Blaney (1957)
Grasslands	0.9 – 2.9	Sierra Ancha, AZ	Rich (1951)
Grasses	2.2	Sierra Ancha, AZ	Rich (1951)

WATER USE BY NATURAL VEGETATION COMMON IN THE CENTRAL VALLEY PRAIRIE

[Robinson 1958]. In our analyses, we used a range of 1 to 2 ac-ft/ac for all prairie as defined by Kuchler (1977).

About 148,000 acres of saltbush (*Atriplex polycarpa*) were also present in the plains region of the San Joaquin Valley. Since we did not find water use measurements for this species, we used the mean consumptive use value (2 ac-ft/ac) determined for saltgrass (Table 7).

Native Vegetation Water Supply

The natural water supply that we described in the section, The Natural Landscape, could have supported the native vegetation that we have described. In the Sacramento valley, we believe that the principal water supply to marshes and riparian forests was a high groundwater table, springs, and bank storage. In the San Joaquin valley, the principal supply for the marshes was groundwater that was discharged through sloughs and springs.

The riparian forests were located on the permeable natural levees where channel seepage was continuously present and groundwater was within 20 feet of the surface. The predominant riparian forest species (i.e., cottonwoods, willows) have typical rooting depths of 15 to 30 feet [Robinson 1958, p.62,64], and valley oak, which were common in other areas, are known to draw water from depths in excess of 40 feet [Lewis and Burgy 1964].

Tules and other marsh vegetation, on the other hand, have shallow root systems, typically in the form of rhizomes [Jepson 1975; Mason 1957; Correll and Correll 1972; Beetle 1941]. The common cattail is reported to extend its rhizomes over a diameter of 10 feet in a single growing season and to produce aerial shoots 4 to 48 inches long (Yeo 1964). These plants probably only grew in areas where the groundwater table was within 5 feet of the surface or in regions with a surface water

supply (i.e., via sloughs or springs). An examination of early maps reveals that marshes were located in areas where the groundwater table was at the surface and where soils were reported to have high absorptive capacities [e.g., Forbes 1931, Plate B-I]. Areas underlain by clayey soils that supported tule marsh were typically crisscrossed by complex assemblages of sloughs [e.g., see Bryan 1923, Plate IV; Holmes et al. 1916, Soil Map; Mendenhall et al. 1916, Plate I].

Under natural conditions, surface storage in the flood basins and groundwater storage in the underlying aquifers probably operated in concert to supply native vegetation. Today, this is practiced by spreading water on the land to recharge aquifers and is known as "conjunctive use" [DWR 1983, p.77]. Water was stored during wet periods and used during dry periods.

We investigated the potential groundwater available for native vegetation in each basin (Figure 4, Areas 2a, 2b, 2c) and found that enough water was present in storage in the top 10 feet of soil beneath the flood basins to support marshes using up to 9 ac-ft/ac of water for at least one year everywhere except in the San Joaquin Basin. There, groundwater was adequate to only support marshes at a rate of 6 acft/ac. However, we believe that groundwater storage was not the sole source of water for any of the marshes. The sloughs, which were typically deeper than the main channels, and springs could also have transported surface waters into the marsh areas. Additionally, some flood water from the Sacramento River moved into the San Joaquin Valley through Delta sloughs (e.g., DPW 1931b).

Tulare Lake Basin Overflow

Under natural conditions, and through the present, water was and is exchanged between the Tulare Lake Basin (Area 3, Figure 4) and the San Joaquin Basin (Area 2c) during flood flows. Most people currently believe that the flow was from the Tulare Lake Basin into the San Joaquin Basin and hence into the Bay, because that

is the direction of flow today. Many early maps of the Valley show a continuous ribbon of water running from the Delta south to the lakes of the Tulare Basin [Landrum 1938]. Fremont remarked that the Tulare lakes and the San Joaquin River in the rainy season made a "continuous stream from the head of the valley to the bay." [Fremont 1964,p.14]. However, the amount of water passing across this boundary and the direction of flow are subject to considerable conjecture.

We used DWR's estimate of the Tulare Lake Basin overflow [DWR 1987, p.33] in our natural flow calculations (Table 2). This value (174 TAF/yr) is actually the historic USGS flow measurements at James Bypass on the Fresno Slough, which connects the two drainages. These flows probably have little, if any relationship to flows that may have occurred under natural conditions.

Our calculations suggest that over the long-term, the net water exchange between the two basins was nearly zero. Drought was more common in the Tulare Lake Basin than to the north, and these lakes were often reported as dry by early explorers. Under many conditions, water moved from the San Joaquin Basin into the Tulare Lake Basin, or in the opposite direction. Nevertheless, we adopt DWR's estimate in an effort to be conservative. We reviewed the literature in an attempt to resolve the uncertainty surrounding this overflow. We also calculated a water balance for the Tulare Lake Basin. This work indicates that the long-term net exchange of water between these basins was about equal to zero.

Natural Geography and Hydrology

The San Joaquin and Tulare Lake drainage basins are separated by a natural ridge or barrier that lies immediately to the south of the San Joaquin River. Tulare, Kern, Buena Vista, and other small lakes were located in a depression south of this ridge. Normally, the San Joaquin River system drains north into the Bay, and the Tulare system drained south into these lakes. The lakes were connected by sloughs and

formerly were filled by flow from the east-side tributaries, primarily the Kings and Kern Rivers. These lakes no longer exist because they were drained and reclaimed for farming. The overflow area was and remains a complex network of sloughs, the principal one being Fresno Slough.

The overflow lands bordering the slough were of nearly uniform width, averaging about 5.4 miles [Davis et al. 1959, p. 28]. The slough itself, under natural conditions, has been reported to be "like a canal...and very deep near the San Joaquin, but eight to ten miles from this river it divides up into numerous channels, which become intricate and ramified as they enter the lake." [Williamson 1853, p.192]. It was "about forty miles in length...and about two hundred and forty feet in width...." in April 1850 [Farquhar 1932b], a very wet year in the Valley [Anonym. 1886].

Under natural conditions, the Kings River discharged into this lowland area. Part of the flow moved south to Tulare Lake, which formerly covered an area varying from a few square miles in dry years to about 760 square miles in wet ones [DPW 1931c, p.76]. Part may also have moved north through Fresno Slough into the San Joaquin Basin under some conditions. Apparently, the flood waters had to raise the surface of the lake to an elevation of 205 to 210 feet from a low of 176 feet before any water moved northward into Fresno Slough and the San Joaquin River (ibid., p.483).

Historic Accounts

Contemporary technical descriptions generally indicate that transfer of water only occurred during periods of high flow in winter and spring and that there was no constant flow direction, the flow sometimes being south and sometimes north. In the earliest technical description of note, Coulter, an English scientist, reported that "The Tule Lakes are now known not to exceed 100 miles in total length, being fordable in the dry season in places; ...they discharge, during a considerable portion

of the year, very little, if any, water into San Francisco. It is only immediately after the rainy season, which is usually ended by February, and during the thaw of the snow ...that there is any considerable discharge of water from them in this direction" [Coulter 1835, p.60]. Fremont, in his Memoirs, also reported flow into the San Joaquin, remarking that "In times of high water, the lake discharges into the Joaquin, making a continuous water line through the whole extent of the valley." Both of these observations, and many others like them, were based on hearsay or memory, rather than actual first-hand observations.

Later technical descriptions by professionals working in the area reported flow moving predominantly from north to south, into the Tulare Lake Basin. Lieutenant Derby explored the "Tulares Valley" in 1850, which was a wet year, in search of a site for a military outpost [Farquhar 1932b] and attempted to cross between the basins at the site of Fresno Slough in April of that year. He reported that the ground between the lake and the San Joaquin was "entirely cut up by small sloughs which had overflowed in every direction, making the country a perfect swamp.....We were engaged...in getting through the mire, crossing no less than eight distinct sloughs, one of which we were obliged to raft over. In all of these sloughs a strong current was running southwest, or from the San Joaquin river to the lake."

In 1853, the U.S. War Department undertook surveys for a railroad route from the Mississippi River to the Pacific Coast. Blake, the geologist on this mission, described the overflow area, noting that "when the level of the river is greatly raised by freshets it overflows its banks, and the water passes to the lakes by this slough. At seasons of low water, all communication between the river and lake is prevented by a bar at the mouth of the slough." [Williamson 1853, p.192].

Others have reported that water was exchanged between the two basins through subsurface flow. The Irrigation Congress, reporting on field work for canals in the San Joaquin and Tulare Lake Basins, speculated that "the San Joaquin receives an important accession of volume from underground drainage — probably from the Tulare Lake drainage." [Anonym. 1873, p.8]. However, most accounts of groundwater in this area indicate that it was "stagnant" [Mendenhall et al. 1916], discharging at the surface. Additionally, groundwater contours of the Valley [e.g., Ingerson 1941; Mendenhall et al. 1916], indicate that groundwater predominantly moved downslope toward the valley trough, rather than along the axis of the valley. We were unable to locate any authoritative accounts of groundwater exchange along a north-south axis or any that allowed us to eliminate this potential exchange.

Tulare Lake Basin Water Balance

We also calculated a water balance around the valley floor of the Tulare Lake Basin, using the same procedure described previously for the entire Central Valley. The results of this water balance are presented in Table 8. All of the factors and assumptions used in the analysis are listed on the table in the column headed "source/assumptions."

We used different consumptive use factors in the Tulare Lake Basin than in the north because climatic and hydrologic conditions there are distinct. This area is "desert-like and barren....during the summer and autumn..." when it is reported to be "without green vegetation...and gives unobstructed passage to steady currents of air.." [Blake 1856, p.1]. Thus, we used consumptive use factors for grassland and saltbush that were 50 percent less than we used in areas to the north.

We also used a combined tule marsh/lake evaporation rate of 6 ac-ft/ac. During wet cycles, extensive freshwater lakes were formed, which in dry cycles were partially drained and their lower levels replaced by marshes [Forbes 1941, p.17]. Thus, the ratio of lake surface area to marsh was constantly changing under natural conditions. Therefore, we used a mean tule marsh/lake evaporation rate of 6 ac-

TABLE 8

,

. .

TULARE LAKE BASIN WATER BALANCE FOR NATURAL CONDITIONS

Element in Water Balance	Long-term, Average Annual Water (millions of ac-ft/yr)	Source/Assumptions
Water Supply		
Rim Inflow	3.5	For period 1889-1929; DPW Bull. 29 (1931), Table 5
Precipitation on Valley Floor	4.5	Valley floor area (6,503 x 10 ³ acres) times average precipitation (8.3 in.) from Schreiner (1987)
TOTAL SUPPLY	8.0	
Water Use		
Riparian Forest (Valley oak)	0.9	Forest area (515 x 10 ³ acres) times evapotranspiration (1.7 ac-ft/ac) from Lewis (1968)
Prairie	2.0	Prairie area (4,027 x 10 ³ acres) times evapotrans- piration (0.5 ac-ft/ac) based on 50% of the mean (Table 7)
Saltbush	1.3	Saltbush area (1,298 x 10 ³ acres) times evapotrans- piration (1 ac-ft/ac) estimated as 50% of the average saltgrass use (Table 7)
Tule Marsh/Lake Evaporation	n 3.9	Total area (643 x 10^3 acres) times evapotranspiration (6 ac-ft/ac) from Table 6
TOTAL USE	8.1	
IMBALANCE	-0.1	



ft/ac. This is 40 percent greater than lake evaporation [Anderson and Idso 1987], which Forbes estimated to be 4.4 ft/yr [Forbes 1931, p. 541].

We found that for natural conditions, water use in the basin slightly exceeded inbasin supply by about 100,000 ac-ft/yr over the long-term. This suggests that the Tulare Lake Basin may have had an unidentified water supply, which we believe was surface and subsurface overflow from the San Joaquin Basin into the Tulare Lake Basin. Within the limits of error for this type of analysis, this suggests that the Tulare Lake Basin overflow did not contribute large quantities of water to San Francisco Bay. However, it is certainly possible that, during very wet years, a larger quantity of water could have been exchanged, depending upon the volume of water stored in the natural lakes just before the flood flows began. A conservative upper bound for this overflow is the total rim inflow for the basin or 3.5 million ac-ft/yr (Table 8). If the overflow were on the average this large, which we believe is physically impossible, it would not change any of the conclusions presented here.

RECOMMENDATIONS

The concepts and calculations presented here should be viewed as a first step in estimating what the natural inflows to San Francisco Bay may have been. Estimates such as these are difficult to make due to the absence of quantitative measurements, and considerable additional work is required to refine our first attempts. We recommend the following additional studies and analyses:

- Water use by tule marshes and riparian forests that were indigenous to the Central Valley should be measured in field studies in preserved wetland areas.
- 2) The ecology and hydrology of freshwater marshes such as those that were common throughout the Central Valley have never been studied in a

comprehensive manner. Field studies in preserved wetlands should be conducted to determine, among other things, the source of water, the volume of water storage, species distribution and abundance, and the effect of floods and droughts on marsh productivity. The excellent research conducted in Europe and the USSR on mires, bogs, and swamps should be used as a guide [e.g., Ivanov 1981].

- 3) Daily salinity and tidal data have been collected at the Presidio, at the Golden Gate, since 1855. This information should be analyzed to confirm the concepts presented here. Historic changes in Delta outflow (Figure 1) should be reflected in tidal and salinity records at this site. Some of the tidal data have been reported elsewhere [Smith 1980], and we believe the increase in tidal height from 1860 to 1885 shown in these records reflects increased Delta outflows from the extensive harvesting of riparian forest and draining of swamps that occurred then [Meade and Emery 1971].
- 4) An extensive body of technical information exists in pre-1900 State and Federal reports, which were then published as appendices to congressional proceedings. Many of these have been abstracted and tabulated in bibliographies on the State [e.g., Cowan and Cowan 1933; Hasse 1908]. A thorough search and synthesis of this material may yield additional information that could further clarify the natural system.
- 5) Eye witness accounts can also provide valuable information. Many of the original journals and maps are archived in the Bancroft Library on the University of California's Berkeley campus. Additional diaries and journals of early explorers and settlers should be consulted to determine the response of the natural system to droughts and floods. Events of interest should be compiled and tabulated in a consistent format and classified by

year type (wet, dry) using the excellent climatological research that is available [e.g., Graumlich 1987; Lamb 1977; Lynch 1931].

- Existing natural vegetation maps of California [Kuchler 1977; Roberts et al. 1977] should be revised using historic accounts as presented in journals, diaries, and early technical reports appended to congressional proceedings.
- 7) Our analyses have focused on the effect of changes in valley floor vegetation on Delta outflow. The influence of changes in upslope vegetation on freshwater inflow to the Bay should also be explored. Some important additional areas to investigate include timber harvesting in the Sierra and Coastal range forests, converting chaparral to grassland, and the accidental introduction of annual grasses into the prairie.
- 8) A reservoir operations study should be performed on the Central Valley and its ancient storage reservoirs - the natural flood basins and groundwater aquifers - to determine the monthly distribution of flows under natural conditions.
- 9) The surface area of the natural flood basins was much greater than the surface area of man-made reservoirs that replaced them. This means that under natural conditions, water surface evaporation was much greater than it is today. This was not considered in this work. It should be evaluated in future studies.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

E.F. Adams, Our Great Reclamation Problem. The Swamp and Overflowed Lands of the Sacramento and Lower San Joaquin, Transactions of the Commonwealth Club of California, v. I, no. 4, pp. 3-21 (1904).

B.S. Alexander, G.H. Mendell, and G. Davidson, Report of the Board of Commissioners on the Irrigation of the San Joaquin, Tulare, and Sacramento Valleys of the State of California, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C. (1874).

M.G. Anderson and S.B. Idso, Surface Geometry and Stomatal Conductance Effects on Evaporation from Aquatic Macrophytes, Water Resources Research, v. 23, no. 6, pp. 1037-1042 (1987).

Anonymous, Annual Meteorological Review of the State of California During the Year 1886, State Agricultural Society Transactions, pp. 255-297 (1886).

Anonymous, Irrigation in California. The San Joaquin and Tulare Plains. A Review of the Whole Field, Record Steam Book and Job Printing House, Sacramento (1873).

R.J. Arkley and R. Ulrich, The Use of Calculated Actual and Potential Evapotranspiration for Estimating Potential Plant Growth, Hilgardia, v. 32, no. 10, pp. 443-461 (1962).

B.F. Atwater, Distribution of Vascular-Plant Species in Six Remnants of Intertidal Wetland of the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta, California, U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 80-883 (1980).

B.F. Atwater and D.F. Belknap, Tidal-Wetland Deposits of the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta, California, in Quaternary Depositional Environments of the Pacific Coast, Pacific Coast Paleogeography Symposium 4, M.E. Field, A.H. Louma, I.P. Colburn, R.G. Douglas, and J.C. Ingle (Eds.), Pacific Section, Society of Economic Paleontologists and Mineralogists, Los Angeles, CA, pp. 89-103 (1980).

B.F. Atwater, S.G. Conard, J.N. Dowden, C.W. Hedel, R.L. MacDonald, and W. Savage, History, Landforms, and Vegetation of the Estuary's Tidal Marshes, in San Francisco Bay: The Urbanized Estuary, T.J. Conomos (ed.), Fifty-Eighth Annual Meeting of the Pacific Division/American Association for the Advancement of Science, Pacific Division of the American Association for the Advancement of Science, c/o California Academy of Sciences, pp. 347-385 (1979).

J.W. Audubon, Audubon's Western Journal: 1849-1850, The Arthur H. Clark Co., Cleveland (1906).

J.W. Audubon, Audubon's Western Journal: 1849-1850, The Arthur H. Clark Co, Cleveland (1906). E.S. Bakker, An Island Called California, University of California Press, Berkeley, CA (1971).

H.H. Bancroft, The Works of Hubert Howe Bancroft, Volume XXIV, History of California, Volume VII. 1860-1890, The History Company, Publishers, San Francisco (1890).

E. S. Bakker, An Island Called California, University of California Press, Berkeley, CA (1971).

M.G. Barbour and J. Major (Eds.), Terrestrial Vegetation of California, John Wiley & Sons, New York (1977).

A.A. Beetle, Studies in the Genus Scirpus L. III. The American Species of the Section Lacustres Clarke, American Journal of Botany, v. 21, pp. 691-700 (1941).

J. Bidwell, Echoes of the Past About California, The Lakeside Press, R.R. Donnelley & Sons Co., Chicago (1928).

W.P. Blake, One the Rate of Evaporation on the Tulare Lakes of California, American Journal of Science and Arts, May, pp. 1-4 (1856).

H.F. Blaney, Consumptive Use of Water by Native Plants Growing in Moist Areas in Southern California, in Water Losses Under Natural Conditions from Wet Areas in Southern California, Part I, Bulletin No. 44, California Department of Public Works (1933).

H.F. Blaney, Determining Consumptive Use of Ground Water by Native Vegetation from Climatological Data (Provisional), Presented at the Annual Meeting of the Association of Western State Engineers, Reno, Nevada, August 17-18, 1953, as Part of a Symposium on Ground Water (1953).

H.F. Blaney, Evapo-Transpiration Measurements in Western United States, Publication No. 38 de l'Association Internationale d'Hydrologie (Assemblee Generale de Rome, Tome III (1954).

H.F. Blaney, Evaporation and Evapotranspiration Studies United States Department of Agriculture in the Pacific Southwest, in Extrait de la Publication No. 40 de l'Association Internationale d'Hydrologie (de l'E.G.G.F.). Symposia Darcy, pp. 21-25 (1956).

H.F. Blaney, Monthly Consumptive Use of Water by Irrigated Crops and Natural Vegetation, Presented at the Eleventh General Assembly of International Union of Geodesy and Geophysics, Toronto, Canada, September 1957 (1957).

H.F. Blaney, Relationship of Pan Evaporation to Evapotranspiration by Phreatophytes and Hydrophytes, Paper Presented at Phreatophyte Symposium, Pacific Southwest Regional Meeting, American Geophysical Union, FEbruary 14-15, 1957, Sacramento, CA (1957).

H.F. Blaney, Consumptive Use and Water Waste by Phreatophytes, Journal of the Irrigation and Drainage Division, Proceedings of the American Society of Civil Engineers, v. 87, no. IR3, pp. 37-46 (1961).

H.F. Blaney and D.C. Muckel, Evaporation and Evapotranspiration Investigation in the San Francisco Bay Area, Transactions of the American Geophysical Union, v. 36, no. 5, pp. 813-830 (1955).

H.F. Blaney, C.A. Taylor, and A.A. Young, Rainfall Penetration and Consumptive Use of Water in Santa Ana River Valley and Coastal Plain, California Department of Public Works Bulletin No. 33, Chapter IV (1930).

H.E. Bolton, In the South San Joaquin Ahead of Garces, Quarterly of the California Historical Society, v. X, no. 3, pp. 211-219 (1931).

H.B. Bolton, Font's Complete Diary. A Chronicle of the Founding of San Francisco, University of California Press, Berkeley, CA, p. 368-409 (1933).

W.H. Brewer, Up and Down California in 1860-1864, F.P. Farquhar (Ed.), University of California Press, Berkeley, CA (1966).

K. Bryan, Geology and Ground-Water Resources of Sacramento Valley, California, U.S. Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 495, pp. 7 - 45 (1923).

E. Bryant, What I Saw in California: Being the Journal of a Toure, by the Emigrant Route and South Pass of the Rocky Mountains, Across the Continent of North America, the Great Desert Basin, and Through California, in the Years 1846, 1847, Ross & Haines, Inc., Minneapolis (1967).

L.T. Burcham, California Range Land. An Historico-Ecological Study of the Range Resource of California, California Department of Natural Resources, Sacramento (1957).

M. Busgen, The Structure and Life of Forest Trees, John Wiley & Sons, Inc, New York, Translated by T. Thomson (1929).

California Department of Public Works (DPW), Sacramento River Basin, Bulletin No. 26 (1931a).

California Department of Public Works (DPW), Variation and Control of Salinity in Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta and Upper San Francisco Bay, Bulletin 27, p. 69 (1931b).

California Department of Public Works (DPW), San Joaquin River Basin, Bulletin No. 29 (1931c).

California Department of Water Resources (DWR), Evaporation from Water Surfaces in California, Bulletin 73-79 (1979).

California Department of Water Resources (DWR), The California Water Plan. Projected Use and Available Water Supplies to 2010, Bulletin 160-83 (1983).

California Department of Water Resources, California Central Valley Unimpaired Flow Data, Second Edition (Feb. 1987).

C.E. Chapman, Expedition on the Sacramento and San Joaquin Rivers in 1817, Diary of Fray Narciso Duran, Publications of the Academy of Pacific Coast History, v. 2, no. 5, pp. 331-348 (1911).

Commission of Engineers, Report of the Commission of Engineers to the Commissioner of Public Works of the State of California upon the Rectification of the Sacramento and San Joaquin and their Principal Tributaries, and the Reclamation of the Overflowed Lands Adjacent Thereto (1904).

S.G. Conard, R.L. MacDonald, and R.F. Holland, Riparian Vegetation and Flora of the Sacramento Valley, in Riparian Forests in California. Their Ecology and Conservation, a Symposium Sponsored by Institute of Ecology, University of California, Davis, CA and Davis Audubon Society, A. Sands (Ed.), pp. 47-55 (1977).

S.F. Cook, Colonial Expeditions to the Interior of California. Central Valley, 1800-1820, Anthropological Records, v. 16, no. 6, pp. 239-292 (1960).

S.F. Cook, Expeditions to the Interior of California Central Valley, 1820-1840, Anthropological Records, v. 20, no. 5, pp. 151-213 (1962).

R.E. Cowan and R.G. Cowan, A Bibliography of the History of California 1510 - 1930, Vols. I-III, John Henry Nash, San Francisco (1933).

D.S. Correll and H.B. Correll, Aquatic and Wetland Plants of Southwestern United States, Water Pollution Control Research Series, Environmental Protection Agency (1972).

S.W. Cosby, Soil Survey of the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta Area, California, U.S. Department of Agriculture, Bureau of Chemistry and Soils, SEries 1935, No. 21 (1941).

T. Coulter, Notes on Upper California, The Journal of the Royal Geographical Society of London, v. 5, pp. 59-70 (1835).

T.F. Cronise, The Agricultural and Other Resources of California, A. Roman & Co., San Francisco (1870). D.C. Cutter, Spanish Exploration of California's Central Valley, Ph.D. Thesis, University of California, Berkeley (1950). D.C. Cutter, The Diary of Ensign GArbiel Moraga's Expedition of Discovery in the Sacramento Valley 1808, Glen Dawson, San Francisco (1957).

A.P. Dachnowski-Stokes, Peat Land as a Conserver of Rainfall and Water Supplies, Ecology, v. 16, no. 2, pp. 173-177 (1935).

A.P. Dachnowski-Stokes, Peat Land in the Pacific Coast States in Relation to Land and Water Resources, U.S. Department of Agriculture Miscellaneous Publication No. 248 (1936).

G.H. Davis, J.H. Green, F.H. Olmsted, and D.W. Brown, Ground-Water Conditions and Storage Capacity in the San Joaquin Valley, California, U.S. Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 1469 (1959).

G.H. Davis, B.E. Lofgren, and S. Mack, Use of Ground-Water Reservoirs for Storage of Surface Water in the San Joaquin Valley California, U.S. Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 1618 (1964).

R. Dillon, Delta Country, Presidio Press, Novato, CA (1982).

Z.E. Eldredge, Reconnaissance of the Port of San Francisco, with Map: Report of the Pilot Don Jose de Canizares to Commander Don Juan de Ayala, in The March of portola and the Discovery of the Bay of San Francisco, The California Promotion Committee, San Francisco (1909).

F.P. Farquhar, The Topographical Reports of Lieutenant George H. Derby, Quarterly of the California Historical Society, v. XI, no. 2, pp. 99-123 (1932a).

F.P. Farquhar, The Topographical Reports of Lieutenant George H. Derby, Part II. Report on the Tulare Valley of California, April and May 1850, California Historical Society, v. XI, no. 2, pp. 247-265 (1932b).

H. Forbes, Geology and Underground Water Storage Capacity of San Joaquin Valley, in San Joaquin River Basin, Appendix B, California Division of Water Resources, Bulletin 29, p. 531-550 (1931). H. Forbes, Geology of the San Joaquin Valley as Related to the Source and the Occurrence of the Ground-Water Supply, Transactions of the American Geophysical Union, Part I, p. 8-20 (1941).

J.C. Fremont, Geographical Memoir Upon Upper California in Illustration of his Map of Oregon and California Newly Reprinted from the Edition of 1848, The Book Club of California, San Francisco (1964). J.C. Fremont, Narratives of Exploration and Adventure, Longmans, Green & Co, NY (1956). Also The Expeditions of John Charles t Fremont, Volume 1. Travels from 1838 to 1844, D. Jackson and M.L. Spence (Eds.), University of Illinois Press, Urbana, IL (1970).

J. Galvin, The First Spanish Entry into San Francisco Bay 1775. The Original Narrative, Hitherto Unpublished, by Fray Vicente Maria and Further Details of Participants in the First Explorations of the Bay's Waters, John Howell Books. San Francisco, CA, pp. 97, 105 (1971).

J.S. Gatewood, T.W. Robinson, B.R. Colby, J.D. Hem, and L.C. Halpenny, Use of Water by Bottom-Land Vegetation in Lower Safford Valley, Arizona, U.S. Geological Survey Water Supply Paper 1103 (1950).

F.T. Gilbert, History of San Joaquin County, California, Thompson and West, Oakland, CA (1879).

G.K. Gilbert, Hydraulic-Mining Debris in the Sierra Nevada, U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 105 (1917).

L.J. Graumlich, Precipitation Variation in the Pacific Northwest (1675-1975) as Reconstructed from Tree Rings, Annals of the Association of American Geographers, v. 77, no. 1, pp. 19-29 (1987).

C.E. Grunsky, The Relief Outlets and By-Passes of the Sacramento Valley Flood-Control Project, American Society of Civil Engineers, Transactions, v. 93, pp. 791-811 (1929).

Wm. Ham. Hall, Drainage of the Valleys and the Improvement of Navigation of Rivers, Report of the State Engineer to the Legislature of the State of California — Session of 1880, Part II. Appendices to Journals of State, 23rd Session, Sacramento (1880).

A. Hasse, Carneigie Institute, Washington, D.C. (1908).

A.R. Hibbert, Increases in Streamflow after Converting Chaparral to Grass, Water Resources Research, v. 7, no. 1, pp. 71-80 (1971).

E.W. Hilgard, Alkali Lands, Irrigation and Drainage in Their Mutual Relations, University of California - College of Agriculture, Agricultural Experiment Station, Appendix to the Report for the Year 1890, Sacramento (1892).

L.C. Holmes, J.W. Nelson and Party, Reconnaissance Soil Survey of the Sacramento Valley, California, in Field Operations of the Bureau of Soils, 1913. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Bureau of Soils, Washington, D.C., pp. 2297-2438 (1916). R.F. Hoover, Character and Distribution of the Primitive Vegetation of the San Joaquin Valley, Master of Arts Thesis, University of California, Berkeley (1935).

J.S. Horton, Evapotranspiration and Water Research as Related to Riparian and Phreatophyte Management, An Abstract Bibliography, Forest Service — U.S. Department of Agriculture, Miscellaneous Publication No. 1234 (1973).

W.G. Hoyt and H.C. Troxell, Forests and Stream Flow, American Society of Civil Engineers Proceedings, v. 58, no. 6, pp. 1037-1066 (1932).

I.M. Ingerson, The Hydrology of the Southern San Joaquin Valley, California, and Its Relation to Imported Water Supplies, American Geophysical Union Transactions, Part I, Reports and Papers (A) Section of Hydrology, National Research Council, Washington, D.C., pp. 20-45 (1941).

K.E. Ivanov, Water Movement in Mirelands, Translated from the Russian by A. Thomson and H.A.P. Ingram, Academic Press, London (1981).

M.E. Jensen (Ed.), Consumptive Use of Water and Irrigation Water Requirement, A Report Prepared by the Technical Committee on Irrigation Water Requirements of the Irrigation and Drainage Division of the American Society of Civil Engineers, American Society of Civil Engineers, New York, NY (1973).

W.L. Jepson, The Riparian Botany of the Lower Sacramento, Erythea, v. l, pp. 238-247 (1893).

W.L. Jepson, A Manual of the Flowering Plants of California, University of California Press, Berkeley, CA (1975).

W.L. Kahrl (Ed.), The California Water Atlas, State of California (1979).

E.F. Katibah, A Brief History of Riparian Forests in the Central Valley of California, in R.E. Warner and K.M. Hendrix (Eds.), California Riparian Systems. Ecology, Conservation, and Productive Management, University of California Press, Berkeley, pp. 23-29 (1984).

E.F. Katibah, N.E. Nedeff, and K.J. Dummer, Summary of Riparian Vegetation Areal and Linear Extent Measurements from the Central Valley Riparian Mapping Project, in R.E. Warner and K.M. Hendrix (Eds.), California Riparian Systems. Ecology, Conservation, and Productive Management, University of California Press, Berkeley, pp. 46-50 (1984).

A.W. Knight and R.L. Bottorff, The Importance of Riparian Vegetation to Stream Ecosystems, in R.E. Warner and K.M. Hendrix (Eds.), California Riparian Systems. Ecology, Conservation, and Productive Management, University of California Press, Berkeley, pp. 160-167 (1984). A.W. Kuchler, Potential Natural Vegetation of the Conterminous United States, American Geographical Society Special Publication No. 36 (1964).

A.W. Kuchler, Problems in Classifying and Mapping Vegetation for Ecological Regionalization, Ecology, v. 54, no. 3, pp. 512-523 (1973).

A.W. Kuchler, The Map of the Natural Vegetation of California, Department of Geography, University of Kansas (1977); also published in M.G. Barbour and J. Major, Terrestrial Vegetation of California, John Wiley & Sons, NY (1977).

H.H. Lamb, Climatic History and the Future, Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ (1977).

E.A. Landrum, Maps of the San Joaquin VAlley up to 1860, M.A. Thesis, University of California, Berkeley, CA (1938).

M.H. Lapham and W.W. Mackie, Soil Survey of the Stockton Area, California, in Field Operations of the Bureau of Soils, 1905. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Bureau of Soils, Washington, D.C., pp. 997-1089 (1907).

E.E. Leake, Report of the Commissioner of Public Works to the Governor of California 1895-1896, Appendix to the Journals of the Senate and Assembly of the Thirty-Second Session of the Legislature of the State of California, Volume II, Sacramento, pp. 1-44 (1897).

J. Leale, Recollections of a Tule Sailor, George Fields, San Francisco (1939).

C.H. Lee, An Intensive Study of the Water Resources of a Part of Owens Valley, California, U.S. Geological Survey Water Supply Paper 294 (1912).

D.C. Lewis, Annual Hydrologic Response to Watershed Conversion from Oak Woodland to Annual Grassland, Water Resources Research, v. 4, no. 1, pp. 5972 (1968).

D.C. Lewis and R.H. Burgy, The Relationship Between Oak Tree roots and Groundwater in Fractured Rock as Determined by Tritium Tracing, Journal of Geophysical Research, v. 69, no. 12, pp. 2579-2588 (1964).

D.C. Lewis and R.H. Burgy, Water Use by Native Vegetation and Hydrologic Studies, University of California, Davis, Annual Report No. 7, Department of Water Science and Egnineering (1967).

L.D. Love, The Effect on Stream flow of the Killing of Spruce and Pine by the Englemann Spruce Beetle, Transactions, American Geophysical Union, v. 36, no. 1, pp. 113-118 (1955).

H.B. Lynch, Rainfall and Stream Run-Off in Southern California Since 1769, The Metropolitan Water District of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA (1931).

R.R. McGill, Jr., Land Use Changes in the Sacramento River Riparian Zone, Redding to Colusa, California Resources Agency, Department of Water Resources (1975).

J.W. Mackie, A.P. Merritt, J.F. Gibson, W.B. Cartmill, E. DeWitt, E. Oakford, and P.J. Flynn, Reports on the Projected Works of the Tulare Irrigation District, Tulare County, California, by the Board of Directors and the Engineers, Daily Evening Register Steam Print, Tulare, CA (1890).

A.B. Maloney (Ed.), Fur Brigade to the Bonaventura. John Work's California Expedition 1832-1833 for the Hudson's Bay Company, California Historical Society, San Francisco (1945).

M. Manson, The Swamp and Marsh Lands of California, Transactions of the Technical Society of the Pacific Coast, v. V, no. 2, pp.83-99 (1884).

H.L. Mason, A Flora of the Marshes of California, University of California Press, Berkeley and Los Angeles, CA (1957).

R.H. Meade and K.O. Emergy, Sea Level as Affected by River Runoff, Eastern United States, Science, v. 173, no. 3995, pp. 425-428 (1971).

G.H. Mendell, Report of the State Engineer to the Legislature of the State of California - Session of 1880, Part II. Drainage of the Valleys and the Improvement of the Navigation of Rivers, Sacramento, CA (1880).

W.C. Mendenhall, R.B. Dole, and H. Stabler, Ground Water in San Joaquin Valley, California, U.S. Geological Survey Water Supply Paper 398 (1916).

F. Michny, Causes for the Loss of Riparian Forest Along the Sacramento River, Unpublished Report, USDI Fish and Wildlife Service (1980).

D.C. Muckel, Evaporation Investigations in the San Francisco Bay Region, California, Fourth Progress Report, A Report to the U.S. Army Engineer District, San Francisco, Corps of Engineers by U.S. Department of Agriculture (1958).

D.C. Muckel, Phreatophytes — Water Use and Potential Savings, ASCE Water Resources Engineering Conference Preprint 328, May 16-20 (1966). D.C. Muckel and B.R. Carroll, Evaporation and Evapotranspiration Losses Under Various Proposed Barrier Plans of the San Francisco Bay System, California, Report Prepared for U.S. Army Engineer District, San Francisco, Corps of Engineers, Comprehensive Survey of San Francisco Bay and Tributaries by U.S. Department of Agriculture, Agricultural Research Service, Berkeley, CA (1959).

J.W. Nelson, J.E. Guernsey, L.C. Holmes, E.C. Eckmann, and M.H. Lapham, Reconnaissance Soil Survey of the Lower San Joaquin Valley, California, in Field Operations of the Bureau of Soils, 1915. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Bureau of Soils, Washington, D.C., pp. 2583-2733 (1918).

F.H. Olmsted and G.H. Davis, Geologic Features and Ground-Water Storage Capacity of the Sacramento Valley California, Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 1497 (1961).

C.H. Otis, The Transpiration of Emersed Water Plants: Its Measurements and Its Relationships, Botanical Gazette of Chicago, v. 58, pp. 457-494 (1914).

R.W. Page, Geology of the Fresh Ground-Water Basin of the Central Valley, California, with Texture Maps and Sections, U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 1401-C (1986).

R. Pestrong, The Development of Drainage Patterns on Tidal Marshes, Stanford University Publications, Geological Sciences, v. X, no. 2 (1965).

H.I. Priestley, A Historical, Political, and Natural Description of California by Pedro Fages, Soldier of Spain, University of California Press, Berkeley (1937).

F.L. Ransome, The Great Valley of California. A Criticism of the Theory of Isostasy, Bulletin of the Department of Geology, University of California, v. 1, no. 14, pp. 371-428 (1896).

L.R. Rich, Consumptive Use of Water by Forest and Range Vegetation, Proceedings of the American Society of Civil Engineers, v. 77, Separate No. 90, pp. 1-14 (1951).

W.G. Roberts, J.G. Howe, and J. Major, A Survey of Riparian Forest Flora and Fauna in California, in Riparian Forests in California. Their Ecology and Conservation, A. Sands (Ed.), University of California, Daviis Institute of Ecology Publication No. 15, pp. 3-19 (1977).

T.W. Robinson, Phreatophytes and Their Relation to Water in Western United States, Transactions, American Geophysical Union, v. 33, no. 1, pp. 57-66 (1952).

T.W. Robinson, Phreatophytes, U.S. Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 1423 (1958).

M.L. Rosenzweig, Net Primary Productivity of Terrestrial Communities: Prediction from Climatological Data, The American Naturalist, v. 102, no. 923, pp. 67-74 (1968).

P.J. Schreiner, Personal Communication on Valley Precipitation, Area-weighted precipitation data for all consumptive use areas on the valley floor from DWR Planning Dept. Precipitation Supporting Data Binders used in consumptive use studies. Methods used to compute area-weighted precipitation are described in DWR Memorandum Report on Consumptive Use Program Documentation by G. Barnes dated April 11, 1979. Precipitation values are calculated by planimetering from J.D. Goodrich's Annual Average Isohyetal Precipitation Map of the Central Valley for 1911-60 (1987).

L.B. Scott and S.K. Marquiss, An Historical Overview of the Sacramento River, in R.E. Warner and K.M. Hendrix (Eds.), California Riparian Systems. Ecology, Conservation, and Productive Management, University of California Press, Berkeley, pp. 51-57 (1984).

T.R. Simpson and C.B. Meyer, Water Resources of California, California State Water Resources Board Bulletin No. 1 (1951).

K.E. Small, History of Tulare County California, The S.J. Clarke Publishing Co., Chicago (1926).

F.E. Smith, A Short Review of the Status of riparian Forest in California, in Riparian Forest in California. Their Ecology and Conservation, A Symposium Sponsored by Institute of Ecology, University of California, Davis and Davis Audubon Society, Institute of Ecology Publication No. 15, A. Sands (Ed.), pp. 1 -2 (1977).

R.A. Smith, Golden Gate Tidal Measurements: 1854-1978, Journal of the Waterway, Port, Coastal and Ocean Division, Proceedings of the American Society of Civil Engineers, v. 106, no. WW3, pp. 407-410 (1980).

State Agricultural Society, Tule and Overflowed Lands, Transactions, pp. 337-347 (1870/71).

O.V.P. Stout, Use of Water in the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta, in Sacramento-San Joaquin Water Supervisor's Report for the Years 1929 - 1935 (1929-1935).

Swamp Land Commissioners, First Annual Report of Swamp Land Commissioners, Appendices to Journals of the 13th Session, pp. 2-27 (1861).

J. Thompson, Settlement Geography of the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta, Ph.D. Thesis, Stanford University, Stanford, CA (1957).

K. Thompson, Historic Flooding in the Sacramento Valley, Pacific Historical Review, v. 29, pp. 349-360 (1960).

K. Thompson, Riparian Forests of the Sacramento Valley, California, Annals of the Association of American Geographers, v. 51, pp. 294-315 (1961).

Tide Land Reclamation Co., Fresh Water Tide Lands of California, M.D. Carr & Co. Book and Job Printers, San Francisco (1869).

T.E. Treutlein, Fages as Explorer, 1769-1772, Quarterly of the California Historical Society, Winter, pp. 338-356 (1972).

H.C. Troxell, Ground Water Supply and Natural Losses in the Valley of Santa Ana River Between Riverside Narrows and the Orange County Line, in Water Losses Under Natural Conditions from Wet Areas in Southern California, Part I, Bulletin No. 44, California Department of Public Works (1933).

S.F. Turner and H.E. Skibitzke, Use of Water by Phreatophytes in 2000-Foot Channel Between Granite Reef and Gillespie Dams, Maricopa County, Arizona, Transactions, American Geophysical Union, v. 33, no. 1, pp. 66-72 (1951).

U.S. Department of Agriculture, Letter from the Secretary of Agriculture transmitting in response to a Senate resolution of December 9, 1907, information in regard to the location and area of swamp and overflowed lands susceptible of being drained for agriculture; the effect of drainage upon such lands; the area drained under the laws of the different states and the benefits which have resulted therefrom, etc., 60th Congress, Document No. 443, April 20 (1908).

R.E. Warner, Structural, Floristic, and Condition Inventory of Central Valley Riparian Systems, in R.E. Warner and K.M. Hendrix (Eds.), California Riparian Systems. Ecology, Conservation, and Productive Management, University of California Press, Berkeley, pp. 356-374 (1984).

R.E. Warner and K.M. Hendrix (Eds.), California Riparian Systems. Ecology, Conservation, and Productive Management, University of California Press, Berkeley (1984).

W.N. White, A Method of Estimating Ground-Water Supplies Based on Discharge of Plants and Evaporation from Soil. Results of Investigations in Escalante Valley, Utah, U.S. Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 659 (1932).

C. Wilkes, Narrative of the United States Exploring Expedition During the Years 1838, 1839, 1840, 1841, 1842, v. V, Philadelphia (1850).

M.E. Wilbur, Duflot de Mofras' Travels on the Pacific Coast, Volume I, The Fine Arts Press, Santa Ana, CA (1937). R.S. Williamson, Report of Exploration in California for Railroad Routs to Connect with the Routes Near the 35th and 32d Parallels of North Latitude, in Explorations and Surveys for a Railroad Route from the Mississippi River to the Pacific Ocean, U.S. War Department (1853).

J. Yates, A Sailor's Sketch of the Sacramento Valley in 1842, The Friends of the Bancroft Library, University of California, Berkeley (1971).

R.R. Yeo, Life History of Common Cattail, Weeds, v. 12, pp. 284-288 (1964).

A.A. Young, Use of Water by Native Vegetation, Paper Presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers, Asilomar, Pacific Grove, CA, June 29, 1938 (1938).

A.A. Young and H.F. Blaney, Use of Water by Native Vegetation, California Department of Public Works Bulletin 50 (1942).